IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

FSC Case No. SC04-490 2DCA Case No. 2D00-1611

GARY ALAN MATHESON,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief-Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 0238538

SUSAN M. SHANAHAN
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0976059
Concourse Center 4
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
(813)287-7900
Fax (813)281-5500

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was charged with three counts of possession of a controlled substance and one count of possession of drug paraphernalia. (V.I: R.12-16). He filed a motion to suppress the evidence and two supplements to that motion. (V.I: R.20-21, 24-26, 97-106). After a hearing on the matter the trial court denied the motion. (V.V: T.227). Respondent pled no contest to possession of methamphetamine, possession of hydrocodone, possession of morphine and possession of drug paraphernalia. (V.V: T.4-5).

On August 1, 2003, the Second District Court of Appeal reversed the denial of Respondent's motion to suppress and remanded with directions to discharge him. Matheson v. State, 870 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), reh'g denied March 5, 2004. (Exhibit 1). On March 5, 2004, Petitioner's motion for rehearing was denied by the Second District Court of Appeal. In its opinion the Second District determined that the narcotics detection dog's alert to Respondent's vehicle was insufficient to establish that the deputies had probable cause to search Respondent's car. Matheson, supra. The State filed its Notice to Invoke on March 18, 2004. The basis for the State seeking jurisdiction in this Honorable Court is the decision of the Second District which expressly and directly conflicts with the Third District's decision in Vetter v. State, 395 So. 2d 1199

(Fla. 3d DCA 1981), in that an alert by a properly trained and certified narcotics detection dog is insufficient to establish probable cause according to the Second District. The State's Motion to Stay the Mandate was denied on April 8, 2004. On August 17, 2004, this Court accepted jurisdiction of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the suppression hearing held on March 8, 2000, Deputy Christopher Grecco, assigned to the Hillsborough Sheriff's Office K-9 Unit (HCSO), testified that he and Razor, a German Shepard who is a trained and certified narcotics detection dog, responded on May 5, 1999, to a call from Deputy Valles who had stopped Respondent based on a traffic violation. (V.IV: T.8, 15-20). When the K-9 Unit arrived at the scene, Deputy Valles was in the process of completing a traffic citation and asked Deputy Grecco to walk Razor Respondent's vehicle which had been driving erratically. (V.IV: Deputy Grecco went to his start point, normally the driver's side front door, and gave Razor the command to search. (V.IV: T.22). They started at the driver's side door and quickly worked their way around the front of the vehicle to the passenger side, and made a complete circle in a clockwise direction back to the start point to begin a second slower, more detailed pass around the car. (V.IV: T.22-23). The dog and handler typically circle a car the first time at the handler's pace as a cursory search and the second time around the car is when the dog goes at his own pace detailing the car. (V.I: R.122).

Razor and Deputy Greco began circling Respondent's car a

second time, much slower, allowing Razor to detail the seams of the vehicle where air would be escaping. (V.IV: T.23-24). the second time around, Razor started at the passenger side, smelled the seams of the hood and door seams of the passenger side, then the rear door and the hatchback at which time he alerted, as an aggressive alert dog, by scratching and biting at the corner of the hatchback where he detected scent escaping. (V.IV: T.25, 36). As soon as Razor alerted to the back of Respondent's car, they terminated the exterior sniff of the vehicle and the officers began searching the car's interior. (V.IV: T.26). The officers found drug paraphernalia such as syringes, spoons and other obvious signs of drug use in the back of Respondent's car near the area where Razor had alerted. (V.IV: T.61). Respondent stipulated that the lab report came back positive for methamphetamine as to one of the narcotics found in his car. (V.IV: T.226). The officers also found hydrocodone and morphine in the glove compartment Respondent's vehicle. (V.V: T.28).

Respondent's expert, Dr. Dan Craig, admitted that dogs do not alert to the exact area of the vehicle where drugs are located because the wind direction changes. (V.IV: T.167). Sergeant Mark Olive, Razor's trainer and Deputy Grecco's supervisor, stated in a pretrial deposition that the reason a dog may alert to the back of a car when drugs are located in the

front of the car is because the air flows from front to back when the car is traveling down the road. (V.I: R.142). the car is traveling at 50-60 mph and there are drugs located in the front of the car, there's a good chance the dog may alert at the taillight or trunk once the vehicle has stopped and the air is escaping. (V.I: R.142). Sergeant Olive explained that dogs frequently alert on the trunk or taillight area because the air currents carry the odor to the back of the vehicle. (V.I R.142). Sergeant Olive stated that the dogs are **not** taught to alert on the drugs themselves, they are taught to alert on the odor of narcotics. (V.I: R.140)(emphasis added). Furthermore, drug paraphernalia was found in the back of the car where Razor alerted and the dogs can and often do detect residual odors. Razor had alerted on residual odors of the (V.I: R.117). narcotics which were recently removed and that is not considered a false positive to law enforcement. (V.IV: T.140).

In reviewing Razor's K-9 Activity Detection Reports, which detail his performance or actions in the field, Sergeant Olive was questioned about a report dated November 28, 1998, in which Razor alerted to a vehicle but no drugs were found. (V.1: R.138-139). Sergeant Olive explained that this is not considered a "false alert" because cocaine had been found in the car by an officer before Razor performed a search around the vehicle and alerted. (V.1: R.139). Deputy Grecco had been

informed, prior to Razor's search, that the suspect had been observed trying to conceal cocaine in the vehicle and the drugs had already been removed from the car so the dog was called to search and make sure there were no more drugs in the vehicle. (V.1: R.139). Dr. Craig, Respondent's expert, who admitted he has never trained a narcotics dog, testified that no organization in the United States, including the military, certifies a dog on residual odors. (V.IV: T.108; V.V: T.172). Dr. Craig also admitted that without measurement, no one can determine if an alert is a false positive without knowing the dissipation rate of the narcotic. (V.IV: T.172). Sergeant Olive testified that it cannot be determined whether a dog has had any false alerts in the street. (V.IV: T.71).

Razor's trainer, Sergeant Mark Olive, has trained 17 narcotics dogs since 1985. (V.I: R.111-112). Sergeant Olive completed a 160 hour course in 1985 and a 240 hour course in 1995 dealing with narcotics dogs, and a 320 hour course in 1995 relating to dogs which detect explosives. (V.I: R.143). The Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office (HCSO) uses outside independent organizations to certify its dogs. (V.I: R.112). Razor, a four-year-old German Shepard, completed a K-9 course with HCSO and was certified with the United States Police Canine Association (USPCA) to detect marijuana, heroine, and cocaine. (V.I: R.113). Razor was certified in June 1998 by the USPCA and

in October 1997 by the HCSO. (V.I: R.152-153). Besides marijuana, cocaine and heroine, Razor was also trained to detect methamphetamine, which was one of the narcotics found in Respondent's vehicle. (V.IV: T.28, 30-31). Razor was trained detect methamphetamine but was not certified in methamphetamine because there was no requirement that a dog be certified in methamphetamine. (V.IV: T.85-86). Razor's handler for three years, Deputy Christopher Greco, completed patrol handler's school and narcotics school. (V.IV: T.9-10). He also attended a 30-day course for state certification standards, a narcotics identification course, and attended several training schools and seminars, including a drug certification trial training session with Razor. (V.IV: T.11-12). The officer testified that Razor continuously trains with his handler. (V.IV: T.30).

In training and certification the dogs do "blank runs" in which there are no drugs hidden to ensure they are not alerting on cue from their handler. (V.I: R.136). Razor also received extinction training in which they put out common things such as coffee, cologne, etc., which drug smugglers use to hide scents, to ensure that the dog is not alerting to those items. (V.I: R.137). Sergeant Olive specifically testified in deposition that they refer to these odors as "masking odors" and put them out with the drugs and other times separate from the drugs to ensure

the dog is not alerting on such odors. (V.I: R.136). He testified that they use things such as cologne, fabric sheets, pepper, onions, coffee and other items that are used by smugglers who attempt to disguise the scent of the drug. (V.I: R.136). Sergeant Olive specifically testified that, "We'll put like a little bag, sandwich baggies, in the locker when we're testing to make sure the dog is not alerting just to plastic and that sort of thing. Gloves, like you're talking about." (V.I: R.137). As part of HCSO's standard operating procedure with all canines, Razor also completed 480 hours of basic canine training before being deployed for official law enforcement use. (V.III: R.399-402).

Sergeant Olive reviews all of the dogs paperwork, including Razor's, to determine if additional training is needed due to too may false positives, and Razor did not require any additional training. (V.I: R.109). In its opinion the Second District specifically found that, "The Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office maintained no record of Razor's performance, and his handler had not kept track." Matheson, 870 So. 2d at 14. A review of the record on appeal shows that extensive records were kept by the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Officer regarding Razor's training, certification, performance in the field and veterinary records, and were admitted into evidence at the suppression hearing by the trial court and are contained in

the record on appeal. (V.II: R.163-346; V.III: R.359-407). In particular, the record on appeal consists of Razor's Canine Training Records dated from November 6, 1997, through October 11, 1999, in which over 40 pages, beginning with Razor's first day of training, detail over 241 exercises including controlled hides of narcotics that Razor properly alerted to at various locations from training facilities, airports, impound lots, warehouses, schools, and various other locations. (V.II: R.168-212). These records set forth the types of drugs such as cocaine, heroin, marijuana, cocaine powder, crack cocaine, and methamphetamine in varying amounts that were hidden in a wide array of objects from tool chests, golf carts, riding lawn mowers, lockers, desk drawers, fences, luggage, in addition to at least 56 different vehicles and/or their compartments.

In addition, a review of these records shows approximately 25 blank vehicles and several blank objects were also used during these training exercises to ensure that Razor was not falsely alerting. Sergeant Olive testified that the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office does conduct controlled negative testing using blank vehicles that did not contain narcotics, and where the handler did not know there were no drugs until after the testing, and that they had conducted such training with Razor. (V.IV: T.95-97). Besides considering Razor's training records, also before the trial court were 131

pages of Razor's Canine Activity/Detection reports dated from November 4, 1998, through August 31, 1999, which detail approximately 65 incidents in the field where Razor was called to a scene to perform a narcotics search. (V.II: R.215-346).

In addition to the voluminous documents in the record, Deputy Grecco testified that the Sheriff's Office maintains records which show how often a dog, including Razor, positively responds while he's in the field as they keep activity sheets everyday which are totaled monthly and which show where on a vehicle the dog alerted. (V.I: R.56). He also testified that Razor was certified on large quantities of narcotics down to .1 gram and has found a rock of methamphetamine that was .1 gram or less. (V.I: R.58-59). Deputy Grecco stated that the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office also keeps records of the vehicles searched when there was no finding of drugs by the dog as this information is recorded in the daily activity report. (V.I: R.61).

The trial court was not convinced by Respondent's expert that Razor's training was inadequate to establish his reliability. The trial court held:

. . . but I don't have any doubt that this dog was competent, was reliable, was trained and could -- could alert to, and obviously did alert to, since you stipulated to that fact, methamphetamine . . . This dog alerted to that drug.

So I'm going to reject Dr. Craig's opinion for the record, because I frankly,

think his expectations are for perfectionists; and we don't live in that kind of world. Now the motion's denied . .

•

(V.V: T.225-227).

In <u>Matheson v. State</u>, 870 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), reh'g denied March 5, 2004, the Second District reversed the trial court's decision finding that a narcotics detection dog's alert to a suspect's vehicle is insufficient to establish that the officer has probable cause to search the car.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District's opinion, by essentially reweighing the evidence, has invaded the province of the trial court, as trier of fact, when the record shows the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's motion to suppress.

Furthermore, the Second District has created an incorrect standard for the qualifications which must be met by the State in proving a narcotics detection dog is properly trained, certified and reliable. This standard, which is now arguably applicable to law enforcement agencies throughout the State of Florida, incongruously places emphasis on the amount of "false alerts" of the dog in the field, when such "false alerts" cannot be calculated except in controlled environments such as

certification and training sessions. The court's opinion in Matheson improperly suggests that an officer who knows only that his dog is trained and certified, and who has no other information, only has a mere suspicion of criminal activity which cannot justify a search. Such a premise is contrary to the majority of Federal and state law and sets an illogical precedent for the trial courts within its jurisdiction to follow.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE SECOND DISTRICT WHETHER ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE "TRACK RECORD," OR NUMBER OF "FALSE ALERTS" IN THE FIELD, BY A TRAINED AND CERTIFIED NARCOTICS DETECTION DOG IS PROBATIVE IN ESTABLISHING THE DOG'S RELIABILITY AND WHETHER THE ALERT PROPERLY TRAINED AND CERTIFIED NARCOTICS DETECTION DOG, STANDING ALONE, IS SUFFICIENT TO DEMONSTRATE PROBABLE CAUSE.

In May 1999, Razor, a certified and trained narcotics detection dog with the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office, was called upon to sniff Respondent's car after deputies stopped him for a traffic infraction. Matheson refused a routine request for permission to search his car and the deputy called for Razor's assistance.

Razor alerted to the car where the officers found a bag containing drug paraphernalia, including syringes and spoons, as hydrocodone tablets, morphine well tablets, methamphetamine. The trial court, after an exhaustive hearing on Appellant's motion to suppress and after reviewing the voluminous documentation regarding Razor's training, certification and performance in the field, made very detailed and specific findings that Razor was a properly trained, certified and reliable narcotics detection dog, thereby providing the officers with probable cause to search Appellant's vehicle after Razor had alerted on it, and denied Appellant's

motion to suppress the illegal drugs found in the vehicle. However, in Matheson v. State, 870 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the Second District reversed Respondent's convictions for possessing a controlled substance and one count of possessing drug paraphernalia. The Second District incorrectly found that Razor's alert to Respondent's vehicle was insufficient to provide the officers with probable cause and held that a narcotics detection dog that has been trained and certified, standing alone, is insufficient to give officers probable cause to search. The Second District ignored the evidence contained in the record on appeal and prior precedent in which the Third District in Vetter v. State, 395 So. 2d 1199 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), review denied (1981), held that the representation in the search warrant that the narcotics detection dog was properly trained conferred probable cause standing alone for the search.

The Second District in <u>Matheson</u> also inappropriately placed emphasis on a dog's "false alerts" in the field, when such "false alerts" can only be determined in a sterile environment and cannot be established, with any reasonable degree of certainty, when the dog alerts in the field. The State submits that the court's opinion in <u>Matheson</u> did not give proper deference to the trial court's findings and reliance on the substantial, competent evidence before the trial court which

rebuts any claim that Razor was not a reliable or properly trained and certified narcotics dog. The ruling by the trial court denying the motion to suppress evidence comes to the reviewing court clothed with a presumption of correctness; and here, the Second District failed to interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences in a manner consistent with the trial court's ruling.

The review of a motion to suppress is a mixed question of law and fact. State v. C.F., 798 So. 2d 751 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). However, the standard of review for the trial court's application of the law to the factual findings is de novo. Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690, 116 S.Ct. 1657, 134 L.Ed.2d 911 (1996). Under de novo review, the reviewing court defers to the factual findings of the trial judge that are supported by competent, substantial evidence. Harris v. State, 761 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000).

The principle is well-settled that decisions of a trial court on a motion to suppress evidence come to the appellate court clothed with a presumption of correctness; and the reviewing court must interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences in a manner consistent with the trial court's ruling.

Murray v. State, 692 So. 2d 157, 159 (Fla. 1997), citing

McNamara v. State, 357 So. 2d 410, 412 (Fla. 1978). Thus, on

appeal, the evidence presented at the trial level must be interpreted in the light most favorable to sustaining the trial court's ruling in favor of the state on a defendant's motion to suppress. Hodges v. State, 740 So. 2d 1204 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), citing Wasko v. State, 505 So. 2d 1314, 1316 (Fla. 1987). A trial court's ruling should not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. Hamilton v. State, 703 So. 2d 1038, 1044 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 524 U.S. 956 (1998).

In the instant case, the trial court indicated that it listened to all of the testimony and reviewed the records regarding Razor's training, certification and experience and made a credibility determination in finding the officers testimony was believable and the documentation to be sufficient in establishing Razor was a properly trained, certified and reliable narcotics detection dog, while also rejecting the testimony of defense expert Dan Craig. However, the Second District failed to give deference to the trial court's assessment of credibility even though the trial court is in the best position to make such a determination. The Second District, by essentially reweighing the evidence, invaded the province of the trial court, as trier of fact, when the record shows the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Respondent's motion to suppress. Furthermore, the Second

District has created a new standard for the qualifications which must be met by the State in proving a narcotics detection dog is properly trained, certified and reliable. This new standard, which is now arguably applicable to law enforcement agencies throughout the State of Florida, improperly places emphasis on the amount of false alerts of the dog in the field, when such "false alerts" cannot be calculated except in controlled environments such as certification and training sessions. The court further failed to consider how a newly trained and certified narcotics detection dog, that does not yet have a "track record" of his performance in the field, can be considered reliable when the court requires that emphasis be placed on the dog's performance history.

The Second District's opinion in <u>Matheson</u> recognized the olfactory superiority of canines but is misled in its reasoning that this can also be a weakness as a narcotics detection dog may alert to residual odors of drugs that are no longer present. Defense witness, Dr. Craig testified that based on Razor's field activity reports he had a false alert rate which he opined was too high, however the State showed this was grossly inaccurate as Razor's accuracy in the field was approximately 96%, assuming the two instances in which he alerted and no drugs were found were actually false alerts. (V.IV: T.125-126). Dr. Craig

admitted that without knowing the dissipation rate of the drugs that were in the vehicle, if there were any, he could not determine whether a response was actually a false alert. (V.V: T.171-172). Therefore, Dr. Craig's testimony regarding Razor's accuracy in the field was merely improper conjecture and the trial court properly gave no weight to it.

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