IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
Petitioner,)
)
V.)
)
GARY ALAN MATHESON,)
)
Respondent.)
)

Case No. Lower Tribunal No. SC04-490 2D00-1611

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Second District State of Florida

> Celene Humphries Special Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar Number 0884881 P.O. Box 9000, Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Initially, this Court lacks discretionary jurisdiction to review the Second District Court decision. In this case, the District Court relied on the Third District decision in <u>State v. Foster</u>, 390 So. 2d 469 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), to hold that the State failed to meet its burden of proving that a drug-detection dog's alert to the Respondent's vehicle provided the K-9 deputy with probable cause to believe that illegal narcotics were present in the vehicle. The District Court relied, in part, on the K-9 deputy's testimony that he did not maintain a record of the drug-detection dog's false alert rate.

In <u>Vetter v. State</u>, 395 So. 2d 1199 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), the Third District relied upon its decision in <u>Foster</u> to affirm the trial court's finding that the State met its burden where Vetter tendered a plea before the State was able to present evidence of the drug-detecting dog's reliability, and where the affidavit to the search warrant represented that the drug-detection dog had a significant record of positively alerting on vehicles that contained controlled substances.

Accordingly, the decision of the Second District cannot be said to expressly and directly conflict with the Third District decision in <u>Vetter</u>.

Should this Court, nonetheless, conclude that it has discretionary jurisdiction and elect to exercise that jurisdiction, it should affirm the decision of the Second District. The Second District properly held that the State failed to prove that the K-9 deputy reasonably believed that his narcotics-detecting dog was sufficiently reliable at detecting the presence of illegal narcotics to be the sole evidence of probable cause to believe that illegal narcotics were present in the Respondent's vehicle. Whether sufficient probable cause exists to justify a search must be determined from the totality of the circumstances, focusing upon the facts existing at the time of the search as viewed in light of the officer's knowledge and experience. As a matter of law, an officer who knows only that his dog is trained and certified to detect narcotics lacks sufficient evidence of the dog's reliability to reasonably conclude that probable cause exists to believe that narcotics will be found in the area to which the dog alerts.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT DOES NOT HAVE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE SUBJECT DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL. THE STATE ERRONEOUSLY ASSERTS THAT THIS DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH A DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ON THE SAME POINT OF LAW.

In its jurisdictional brief, the State asserts that the decision in <u>Matheson v. State</u>, 870 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), conflicts with <u>Vetter v. State</u>, 395 So. 2d 1199 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), issued by the Third District Court of Appeal, and that this conflict provides this Court with discretionary jurisdiction to review <u>Matheson</u>. This assertion is wrong. This Court does not have discretionary jurisdiction to review the subject decision of the Second District Court because that decision does not expressly and directly conflict the Third District Court's decision in <u>Vetter</u> on the same point of law. <u>See</u> Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1980); Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). The Respondent asks this Court to reconsider its preliminary ruling that it has discretionary jurisdiction over this appeal.

Discretionary jurisdiction to resolve conflicts is limited to those cases in which the decision of the district court of appeal expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of the supreme court or of another district court of appeal. It is not enough to show that the district court decision is effectively in conflict with other appellate decisions.

In this case, the decision in <u>Matheson</u> does not expressly and directly with <u>Vetter</u>. In fact, both decisions cite the same Third District Decision, issued in 1980. In <u>State v. Foster</u>, 390 So. 2d 469 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), the Third District set forth set forth the following additional factors that must be known in order to establish that a drug detection dog's alert is a sufficient basis for finding probable cause to search:

> the exact training the detector dog has received; the standards or criteria employed in selecting dogs for marijuana detection training; the standards the dog was required to meet to successfully complete his training program; the "track record" of the dog up until the search (emphasis must be placed on the amount of false alerts or mistakes the dog has furnished).

The Third District cited Foster with approval when it issued Vetter the following year,

stating:

Both sides submitted to the court written (and widely divergent) versions of events leading up to the dog sniff, which bear upon the issues of an illegal stop (vel non) and appellant's purported consent. At pretrial hearing, appellant alleged in addition that the affidavit for warrant contained material misrepresentations concerning the dog Ringo; the affidavit stated: The narcotics detection dog "Ringo" is specially trained in the detection of heroin, cocaine, marijuana, hashish and all of their derivatives. "Ringo" has positively alerted on thirteen consecutive occasions for substances which were subsequently verified to be controlled substances. At no time has Ringo alerted falsely. Appellant claimed that Ringo's training, or lack thereof, does not give his alerts that quantum of reliability necessary to constitute probable cause. Two experts in the canine training field testified for appellant to the effect that Ringo's training regimen, and his work routine, precluded an objective demonstration of reliability....

. . . .

Criteria by which to assess the training a narcotics dog has received are collected in our opinion in <u>State v. Foster</u>, 390 So.2d 469 (Fla.3d DCA) (1980) (1980 FLW 2229) (involving a warrantless search). The trial court was not convinced by appellant's experts that Ringo's training was inadequate to establish his reliability; on this record, where a plea was made to the court, and accepted, before the state put on its case for Ringo's training and general reliability, we will not gainsay the decision of the learned trial judge that appellant did not carry his burden.

Citing Vetter's plea to the Court and the Court's acceptance of that plea, which denied the State the opportunity to put on evidence of the drug-detecting dog's reliability, the Third District declined to find the trial court's ruling error.

The subject decision of the Second District Court also cites <u>Foster</u> with approval, stating, "We agree with this list of factors, and we especially join in the <u>Foster</u> court's emphasis on the dog's performance history." <u>Matheson</u>. Unlike <u>Vetter</u>, the State in this case did undertake to establish the drug-detecting dog's reliability. It attempted to do so only by introducing general evidence of his training and his certification. And, unlike <u>Vetter</u>, the K-9 deputy in the subject decision testified that he did not maintain a record of the drug-detection dog's false alert rate.

In fact, the K-9 deputy testified that he often does not learn whether his dog's alert leads to the discovery of contraband because he frequently leaves the scene of a sniff once he advises other deputies of the alert.

Accordingly, it cannot be said that there is an express and direct conflict between the subject decision in <u>Matheson</u> and <u>Vetter</u>.

Should this Court perceive a conflict, it is more aptly defined as an intradistrict conflict within the Third District, between the decisions in <u>Vetter</u> and <u>Foster</u>. Section 3(b)(3)of the Florida Constitution does not allow the supreme court to resolve conflicts within a district court of appeal.

Moreover, even if an argument exists for discretionary jurisdiction on this basis, this Court is not under an obligation to review the subject decision. Discretionary jurisdiction entails only a judicial power to review case. This Court may elect not to exercise that power.

Π THE SECOND DISTRICT PROPERLY HELD THAT THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THAT THE K-9 DEPUTY REASONABLY NARCOTICS-DETECTING BELIEVED THAT HIS DOG WAS SUFFICIENTLY RELIABLE AT DETECTING THE PRESENCE OF NARCOTICS TO BE THE SOLE EVIDENCE OF ILLEGAL PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE THAT ILLEGAL NARCOTICS WERE PRESENT IN THE RESPONDENT'S VEHICLE. WHETHER SUFFICIENT PROBABLE CAUSE EXISTS TO JUSTIFY A SEARCH MUST BE DETERMINED FROM THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES, FOCUSING UPON THE FACTS EXISTING AT HE TIME OF THE SEARCH AS VIEWED IN LIGHT OF THE OFFICER'S KNOWLEDGE AND EXPERIENCE. AS A MATTER OF LAW, AN OFFICER WHO KNOWS ONLY THAT HIS DOG IS TRAINED AND CERTIFIED TO DETECT NARCOTICS LACKS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF THE DOG'S RELIABILITY TO REASONABLY CONCLUDE THAT PROBABLE CAUSE EXISTS TO BELIEVE THAT NARCOTICS WILL BE FOUND IN THE AREA TO WHICH THE DOG ALERTS.

The Second District Court reversed the trial court's denial of Mr. Matheson's motion to suppress and remanded his case with directions that he be discharged. The Court held that the State failed to meet its burden of proving that Deputy Greco reasonably relied upon his drug-detection dog to provide probable cause to believe that illegal narcotics would be found in Mr. Matheson's car. This ruling was proper and should be affirmed by this Court, should it chose to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction over this case.

Initially, the Second District used the proper standard of appellate review in its consideration of the trial court's denial of the motion to suppress. In reviewing a motion to suppress, an appellate court applies two standards of review. The trial court's findings of fact are reviewed based on the competent, substantial evidence standard. <u>See Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999); <u>State v. Kindle</u>, 782 So. 2d 971 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). More specifically, the concern on appeal is whether, after all conflicts in the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom have been

resolved in favor of affirming the trial court's decision, there is substantial, competent evidence to support the trial court's ruling. <u>Id.</u>

However, the trial court's application of the law to the facts is a legal question. As such, it is renewed de novo. <u>See Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999); <u>State v. Kindle</u>, 782 So. 2d 971 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). This plenary standard affords no deference to the trial court's determination. The Second District properly reviewed the trial court's ruling de novo.

In its decision, the Second District held, as a matter of law, that the mere evidence of a drug-detection dog's certification is insufficient to meet the State's burden to prove that the dog is sufficiently reliable to provide probable cause to justify a search. This Court held that the State must present additional evidence, such as the dog's alert track record or details regarding the dog's training, to meet its burden of establishing that the dog is sufficiently reliable to provide probable cause to believe that narcotics are present. The State did neither here.

Three principles govern the probable cause analysis in this case. First, when police conduct a search without first obtaining a warrant, they initially make the probable cause determination themselves. Therefore, the existence of probable cause must be determined from the totality of the circumstances, focusing upon the facts existing at the time of the search as viewed in the light of the officer's knowledge and experience. <u>See Benefield v. State</u>, 160 So. 2d 706, 708 (Fla.1964); <u>Cliett v. State</u>, 722 So. 2d 916 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998); <u>State v. Ellison</u>, 455 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); <u>State v. Redding</u>, 362 So. 2d 170 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978); <u>Carr v. State</u>, 353 So. 2d 958 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978); <u>Dixon v. State</u>, 343 So. 2d 1345 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). Probable cause supports a search only if the facts are such as would warrant a belief by a reasonable man that he has grounds for his action. <u>See Beck v. Ohio</u>, 379 U.S.89 (1964).

Second, the burden was on the State to prove that probable cause existed to believe that Mr. Matheson's vehicle contained illegal narcotics. In this case, Deputy Greco relied exclusively on a drug-detecting dog's positive alert to Mr. Matheson's vehicle to conclude that the vehicle contained illegal narcotics. Mr. Matheson filed a motion to suppress, asserting that the drug-detecting dog was not qualified to provide the deputies with probable cause to believe that illegal narcotics would be found in the vehicle. Having established that the deputies searched without a warrant, the burden shifted to the State to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the warrantless search was legal. <u>See Palmer v. State</u>, 753 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); <u>Coolidge v. New Hampshire</u>, 403 U.S. 443 (1971); <u>United States v. Jeffers</u>, 342 U.S. 48 (1951); <u>Doorbal v. State</u>, 837 So. 2d 940, 952 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 123 S. Ct. 2647 (2003); <u>Doctor v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 442, 445 (Fla. 1992).

Third, an appellate court applies a more stringent probable cause standard when reviewing a non-warrant case than it does when determining whether probable cause exists to support the issuance of a warrant. In <u>U.S. v. Ventresca</u>, 380 U.S. 02 (1965), the United States Supreme Court stated that "in a doubtful or marginal case a search under a warrant may be sustained where without one it would fail." This reflects court's preference for obtaining warrants because doing so "interposes an orderly procedure" involving "judicial impartiality." <u>U.S. v. Jeffers</u>, 342 U.S. 48 (1951). Doing so allows a neutral and detached court to make "informed and deliberate determinations on the issue of probable cause." <u>Anguilar v. Texas</u>, 378 U.S. 108 (1964). In contrast, leaving such a decision to police officers permits hurried decisions by those "engaged in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime." <u>Johnson v. U.S</u>, 333 U.S. 10 (1948).

At the hearing, the State presented the testimony of Deputy Greco, the dog handler, and evidence consisting of the drug-detecting dog's certification from the United States Police Canine Association and a notebook containing information regarding the dog.

In this case, Deputy Greco premised his probable cause determination solely on Razor's alert to the vehicle. Whether Razor's alert was sufficient to provide Deputy Greco with probable cause to believe that illegal narcotics would be found in Mr. Matheson's vehicle depends on what Deputy Greco knew about Razor's reliability. The State failed to meet its burden of proving that Deputy Greco reasonably believed that Razor was sufficiently reliable at detecting the presence of illegal narcotics.

First, the State failed to prove that Deputy Greco reasonably believed that his dog had a good track record for alerting to the presence of narcotics. In fact, Deputy Greco testified that he never complied or maintained a record of Razor's false positive response rate. In addition, he testified that he often leaves the scene of a sniff after advising deputies of Razor's alert and, thus, does not learn whether the alert led to the discovery of illegal narcotics.

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